

BY-LAWS

OF

ITBHU Global Alumni Association, Inc.

(A New Jersey Nonprofit Corporation)

ARTICLE I

NAME AND PURPOSES

Section 1 Name. The name of the Corporation is: ITBHU Global Alumni Association, Inc. (the “Corporation”) as incorporated on March 26, 2008.

Section 2 Purposes. The purpose of the Organization is to fund and promote education and research among the students, faculty and alumni of the Institute of Technology, Banaras Hindu University at Varanasi, India or its successor institution or Institutions (“Institute”).

The Corporation is a nonprofit corporation organized and operated not for a pecuniary profit.

Section 3 Mission Statement. The Organization is formed to foster better bonds among alumni, students, faculty and staff of the Institute. Its goals are:

- a) To promote information exchange among alumni, students, faculty and staff of the Institute
- b) To improve infrastructure at the campus of the Institute located at Varanasi, India
- c) To increase teaching and research activities and standard at the Institute
- d) To maintain better media relations and to achieve for the success of alumni, students, faculty and staff
- e) Assist the Institute in providing all-round development of its students

Section 4 Activities and Limitations. The Corporation is organized exclusively for charitable or educational purposes, including for such purposes as the making of distributions to organizations that qualify as exempt organizations under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, or corresponding section of any future tax code. No substantial part of the activities of the Corporation shall be the carrying on of the propaganda, or otherwise attempting to influence legislation, and the Corporation shall not participate in, or intervene in (including the publishing or distribution of statements) any political campaign on behalf of, or in opposition to, any candidate for public office;

Notwithstanding any other provision of this document, the Corporation shall not carry on any other activities not permitted to be carried on (a) by an organization exempt from federal taxation under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, or corresponding section of any future tax code, or (b) by an organization contributions to which are deductible under section 170(c)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code, or corresponding section of any future tax code;

The Corporation shall not have or issue stock or shares, and no part of the assets, income or net earnings of the Corporation shall inure to the benefit of; or be distributed to, its members,

trustees, officers or any other private persons, except that the Corporation shall be authorized and empowered to pay reasonable compensation for services rendered to make payments and distributions in conformity with the purposes set forth in Article 1, Section 2 of this by-laws.

ARTICLE II

OFFICES

Section 1 Registered Office. The Corporation shall have and continuously maintain in the State of New Jersey a registered office, and a registered agent whose office is identical with such registered office, as required by section 15A: 4-1(a) of the New Jersey Nonprofit Corporation Act. The registered office may be, but need not be, the same place where the Corporation conducts its activities in conformity with the purposes set forth in Article II, Section 2 of these by-laws.

Section 2 Principal Office. Until the time the corporation decides through a Board resolution to maintain a dedicated office in New Jersey, the principal office shall be served out of the residence or business of the one of its Board Members, Officers or Agent that may change from time to time as herein set forth.

Section 3 Other Offices. The Corporation may have such other offices, either within or without the State of New Jersey, as the Board of Directors may determine or as the activities of the Corporation may require from time to time.

Section 4 Website. The Corporation website is www.itbhuglobal.org ("Website"). The domain's registration will be maintained as an "organizational entry" with the international WHOIS registry, and will be registered under "ITBHU Global Alumni Organization, Inc" and will not be an individual ownership. The website, as well as any intellectual property [such as email addresses] generated as a result of the efforts of the corporation shall be owned by the corporation.

ARTICLE III

MEMBERS

Section 1 Members. The Corporation shall have members having all of the powers and responsibilities set forth herein. The eligibility and qualifications for membership shall be prescribed by resolutions duly adopted by the Board of Directors of the Corporation or by such rules and regulations as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors. All such resolutions or rules and regulations relating to members adopted by the Board of Directors of the Corporation shall be affixed to the by-laws of the Corporation, and shall be deemed to be a part thereof. Such resolutions or rules and regulations adopted by the Board of Directors may prescribe, with respect to all members, the amount and manner of imposing and collecting any initial fees, periodic dues or other fees, assessments, fines and penalties for reinstatement of membership, and, except as may hereinafter otherwise be provided, the rights, liabilities and other incidents of

membership. The right or interest of a member shall not terminate except upon the happening of any of the following events: death, resignation, or termination of the member, or dissolution or liquidation of the Corporation.

Section 2 Qualifications. Members must fit within one (1) of four (4) classes:

(i) Alumni

Graduates with a Bachelor's or a higher degree from the Institute or from one of the Institute's predecessor colleges namely, the Banaras Engineering College, College of Mining and Metallurgy and College of Technology ("Predecessor Colleges")

(ii) Student

Students enrolled at the Institute

(iii) Faculty

Current or past fulltime faculty members at the Institute and Predecessor Colleges

(iv) Staff

Current or past fulltime staff at the Institute and predecessor Colleges

Section 3 Evidence of Membership. Individuals who meet qualifications may apply for membership by initiating registration on the Website. Applicants will become members ("Registered Members") only upon being notified by email of their successful registration. A rejection notification shall inform the applicant by email of his/her right to appeal to the Secretary by email or registered mail. A rejected applicant shall not be conferred any other rights, of membership or otherwise, until and if the appeal does so.

Section 4 Compensation. Members of the Corporation shall not receive any salaries for their services as Members.

Section 5 Loans. No loans shall be made by the Corporation to any member.

ARTICLE IV

MEETINGS OF MEMBERS

Section 1 Annual Meeting. An Annual Meeting of Members shall be held on a date and during a time as may be fixed from time to time by the Board of Directors of the Corporation, and, in the absence of such a provision, during the annual reunion celebrations. The first Annual Meeting shall be held on a date within twelve (12) months after the formation of the Corporation, or at the direction of the Board of Directors. Each successive Annual Meeting shall be held on a date not more than thirteen (13) months following the preceding Annual Meeting. Failure to hold the Annual Meeting at the designated time or any adjournment thereof shall not affect otherwise valid corporate acts or results in a forfeiture or dissolution of the Corporation. If the Annual Meeting is not held on the date designated, the Board of Directors shall cause the meeting to be held as soon thereafter as convenient.

Section 2 Annual Report to Members. At each Annual Meeting of Members, the Board of

Directors shall present an Annual Report. Such report shall be filed with the records of the Corporation and entered in the minutes of the proceedings of such Annual Meeting of Members.

Section 3 Regular Meetings. There shall be regular quarterly meetings of the Members of the Board of Directors.

Section 4 Place of Meetings. The Board of Directors may designate a place, either within or without the State of New Jersey, as the place for any annual meeting or for any regular meeting of the Members.

Section 5 Notice. Notice of the place, day and time of every annual meeting is to be made public through the WWW.ITBHUGLOBAL.ORG website. Such notice shall state the person or persons calling the meeting.

Section 6 Presiding Officers of Meetings of Members. Meetings of the Members shall be presided over by the following officers, in order of seniority – the Chair, Vice-Chair or, if none of the foregoing is in office or present at the meeting, by a Chairman to be chosen by a majority of the Board Members in attendance. The Secretary of the Corporation shall act as Secretary of every meeting. When the Secretary is not available, the Chairman may appoint a Secretary of the meeting.

Section 7 Alternate Means of Participation. Any or all Members may participate in a meeting of the members by means of conference telephone or any means of communications by which all persons participating in the meeting are able to hear each other.

ARTICLE V

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section 1 General Powers. The activities of the Corporation shall be managed by its Board of Directors (BoD). The Board of Directors shall possess and exercise all the general powers granted to nonprofit corporations under section 15A:3-1(a) of the New Jersey Nonprofit Corporation Code, including the powers to:

1. Maintain the Corporation for perpetual duration;
2. Sue and be sued, complain and defend and participate as a party or otherwise in any judicial, administrative, arbitratative or other proceeding, in the name of the Corporation;
3. Have, use and alter, at its discretion, a corporate seal;
4. Take and hold by lease, gift, purchase, grant, devise or bequest any property, real or personal, necessary or desirable for attaining the objects and carrying into effect the purposes of the Corporation as set forth in Article I, Section 2 of these By-laws and to purchase, lease or otherwise acquire, own, hold, improve, use and otherwise deal in and with, real or personal property, or any interest therein, wherever situated subject to any future alteration or modification made by general law as to the amount of real and personal property to be held by the Corporation;
5. Sell, convey, mortgage, create a security interest in, lease, exchange, transfer and otherwise dispose of the Corporation's property and assets;

6. Conduct the activities and operations of the Corporation, have offices and exercise all powers granted to the Corporation by the New Jersey Nonprofit Corporation Act anywhere in the universe;
7. Elect or appoint officers, employees and agents of the Corporation and define the duties and fix the compensation, if any, of said officers, employees and agents of the Corporation;
8. Make and alter by-laws for the administration and regulation of the activities of the Corporation;
9. Participate with others in any corporate entity, partnership, limited partnership, joint venture, or other association of any kind, or in any transaction, undertaking or arrangement which the participating corporation would have power to conduct by itself, whether or not that participation involves sharing or delegation of control with or to others;
10. Have and exercise all other powers necessary or convenient to affect any of the purposes for which the Corporation is organized as provided in Article I, Section 2 of these by-laws.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overall policy and direction of the Corporation, and may designate responsibility for day-to-day operations to the Corporation officers and/or Committees.

Section 2 Qualifications, Number and Election. Directors shall be at least eighteen (18) years of age and need not be United States citizens or residents of the State of New Jersey. The number of Directors shall be not less than three (3) and not more than seventeen (17).

Directors shall be elected by the Council of Representatives (CoR) by voting process. Any registered member can stand for the election for the post of director. The election will be supervised by an Election Officer appointed by the Board of Directors. The decision of Election Officer shall be final and binding for the election outcome. All Board members shall serve two-year terms. Directors are permitted to hold office multiple terms, and they may hold successive terms.

There will be 3 ex-officio directors included in the above number of directors. They will be representatives (one each) from the institute, faculty and students category. The ex-officio directors can be Director of our institute, Professor In-Charge of Alumni cell and Coordinator of IT Students Council. Ex-officio directors shall occupy the authorized/ official positions at the institute in the stated category during their duration of working as directors.

The term limit of ex-officio directors shall be shorter of either the term of the elected directors or their association with the Institute in the same capacity as when they were nominated. They would also be eligible for nomination more than once.

Elected directors would have power to vote out the ex-officio directors with a 3/4 vote. Director of the Institute would have the powers to curtail their terms and appoint their replacement.

Section 3 Voting Rights. Each Director shall be entitled to one (1) vote on each matter submitted to a vote of the Board of Directors.

Section 4 Votes Required. Whenever any action other than the election of Directors is to be

taken by vote of the Directors, it shall be authorized by a majority of the votes cast at a meeting of the Board of Directors, unless a greater plurality is required by these by-laws or provisions of the New Jersey Nonprofit Corporation Act.

Section 5 Proxy Voting. No member shall authorize another person to act by proxy with respect to voting on any issue.

Section 6 Resignation. Any Director may resign at any time by giving written notice, or notice by email, of his or her resignation to the Board of Directors or to the Chair of the Corporation, and such resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein, or, if not specified, at the time of its receipt.

Section 7 Removal. A Director may also be removed, for any reason, by a three-fourths vote of the Board.

Section 8 Vacancies. Any vacancy on the Board of Directors caused by death, resignation, removal, an increase in the total number of directors or other cause may be filled by a majority vote of the remaining Directors (even if less than a quorum). A Director so elected shall hold office until the next annual meeting, at which time a permanent successor shall be duly elected and qualified. In the event of a vacancy caused by the resignation of one or more Directors to become effective at a future date, any such Director or Directors may participate in the vote by the Board of Directors to fill the future vacancy. A Director elected to fill a vacancy shall be elected for the unexpired term of their predecessor in office. Nominations for new members must be received by the Secretary from present Board members at least two weeks in advance of a Board meeting, and be sent out to all members before the meeting itself.

Section 9 Compensation. Directors of the Corporation shall not receive any salaries for their services.

ARTICLE VI

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS

Section 1 Annual Meeting. An annual meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held on a date and during a time to be determined by the Board in its discretion for the purpose of electing directors and officers and for the transaction of such other business as may come before the meeting. If a day that is fixed for the annual meeting is a legal holiday in the State of New Jersey, such meeting shall be held on the next succeeding business day. Failure to hold the annual meeting at the designated time or any adjournment thereof, shall not affect otherwise valid corporate acts or result in a forfeiture or dissolution of the Corporation. If the annual meeting is not held on the date designated, the Board of Directors shall cause the meeting to be held as soon thereafter as convenient.

Section 2 Regular Meetings. The Board of Directors shall hold regular meetings, not less than four times per year. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be held at any place, within or without the State of New Jersey, as may be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors. They may be held in person, by teleconference, or by video conference.

Section 3 Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by or at the request of the Chair or Board of Directors. The person or persons authorized to call special

meetings of the Board of Directors may fix any place, either within or without the State of New Jersey, as the place for holding any such special meeting.

Section 4 Place of Meetings. The Board of Directors may designate a place, either within or without the State of New Jersey, as the place for any annual meeting or for any regular meeting or for any special meeting called by the Board of Directors.

Section 5 Notice. Written notice of the time, place and purposes of every annual meeting and regular meeting of the Board of Directors shall be given not less than two (2) weeks and not more than eight (8) weeks before the date of the meeting, either personally, by email, or by mail, to each Director of record entitled to vote at the meeting. Notice of any special meeting of the Board of Directors shall be given at least two (2) days prior, by written notice delivered personally, by email, or sent by mail to each Director at their address as shown by the records of the Corporation.

Section 6 Alternate Means of Participation. Any or all Directors may participate in a meeting of the Board of Directors or as a committee of the Board of Directors by means of conference telephone or any means of communications by which all persons participating in the meeting are able to hear each other.

Section 7 Quorum. Fifty percent (50%) of the entire Board of Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors shall not conduct any formal actions, motions, decisions, policies or any related functions on behalf of the Corporation absent a quorum, unless specifically allowed under these by-laws. The Directors present in person at a duly organized meeting of the Board of Directors may continue to do business until adjournment, notwithstanding the withdrawal of enough Directors to leave less than a quorum. Less than a quorum may adjourn any meeting of the Board of Directors.

Section 8 Manner of Acting. The act of the majority of Directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of Directors, unless the act of a greater number is required by the New Jersey Nonprofit Corporation Act or these by-laws. Any action required to be authorized by a vote of the Directors greater than a majority shall be rescinded or modified only by a like vote.

Section 9 Informal Action by Directors. Any action required or permitted to be taken pursuant to authorization voted at a meeting of the Board of Directors, other than the annual election of directors, may be taken without a meeting if, prior or subsequent to the action, all members of the Board of Directors consent thereto in writing and the written consents are filed with the minutes of the proceedings of the Board of Directors. The consents shall have the same effect as a unanimous vote of the Board of Directors for all purposes.

ARTICLE VII

OFFICERS

Section 1 Officers. The officers of the Corporation shall consist of a Treasurer, a Secretary and a President. The officers shall be elected by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may elect or appoint such other officers as the Board of Directors shall deem desirable. All officers

shall have the authority and perform the duties in the management of the corporation as provided in these by-laws, or as may be determined by the resolution of the Board of Directors not inconsistent with these by-laws.

Section 2 Compensation. Officers of the Corporation may receive salaries for their services at the discretion of the Board of Directors, but not if the officer is also a member of the Board.

Section 3 Election and Term of Office. The officers of the Corporation shall be elected every two years by a majority vote of the Board of Directors at the annual meeting of the Board of Directors. If the election of officers shall not be held at such meeting, such election shall be held as soon thereafter as convenient. New offices may be created and filled at any meeting of the Board of Directors. Each officer elected as herein provided shall hold office until a successor shall have been duly elected and qualified, subject to early termination by removal or resignation.

Section 4 Removal. Any officer elected by the Board of Directors may be removed with or without cause, by a two-third vote of the Board. The removal of an officer without cause shall be without prejudice to that officer's contract rights, if any. Election of an officer shall not itself create contract rights.

Section 5 Resignation. An officer may resign by written notice to the Chair (President) or Board of Directors. The resignation shall be effective upon receipt thereof by the Chair (President) or Board of Directors or at a subsequent time as shall be specified in the notice of resignation.

Section 6 Vacancies. Any vacancy occurring among the officers, however caused (including, but not limited to, death, resignation, removal, disqualification), shall be filled in the manner provided in these bylaws, or, in the absence of such provision, by a majority vote of the Board of Directors.

Section 7 President. The President shall act as Chair of the Board of Directors. The Chair shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors.

Section 8 Treasurer. If required by the Board of Directors, the Treasurer shall give a bond for the faithful discharge of duties in such sum and with such sureties as the Board of Directors shall determine. The Treasurer shall have charge and custody of and be responsible for all funds and securities of the Corporation; receive and give receipts for moneys due and payable to the Corporation from any source whatsoever and deposit all such moneys in the name of the corporation in such banks, trust companies or other depositories as shall be selected; and in general, perform all the duties incident to the office of Treasurer and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to the Treasurer by the Chair or by the Board of Directors.

Section 9 Secretary. The Secretary shall keep minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors in one (1) or more books provided for that purpose; see that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of these by-laws or as required by law; be custodian of the corporate records and of the seal of the Corporation and see that the seal of the Corporation is affixed to all documents, the execution of which on behalf of the Corporation under its seal is duly authorized in accordance with the provisions of these bylaws; keep a register of the post-office address of each member and director which shall be furnished to the Secretary by such member or director; and, in general, perform all the duties incident to the office of Secretary and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to the Secretary by the Chair or by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE VIII

COMMITTEES

Section 1 Committees. The Board of Directors, by resolution adopted by a majority of the entire Board of Directors, may appoint from among the Directors one or more other committees, each of which shall have at least one or more members. Each committee shall have and may exercise all the authority of the Board of Directors, except that no committee shall:

1. Make, alter or repeal any by-law of the Corporation;
2. Elect or appoint any Director, or remove any officer or Director; or
3. Amend or repeal any resolution previously adopted by the board.

Section 2 Vacancies, Abolishment and Removal. The Board of Directors, by resolution adopted by the entire Board of Directors, may:

1. Fill any vacancy in any committee;
2. Appoint one or more Directors to serve as alternate members of any committee, to act in the absence or disability of members of any committee with all the powers of the absent or disabled members;
3. Abolish any committee at its pleasure; and
4. Remove any Director from membership on a committee at any time, with or without cause.

Section 3 Chairman. One member of each committee shall be appointed chairman by the person or persons authorized to appoint members thereof.

Section 4 Quorum. Unless otherwise provided in the resolution of the Board of Directors designating a committee, a majority of the entire committee shall constitute a quorum and the act of a majority of the members present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the committee.

Section 5 Rules. Each committee may adopt rules for its own governance not consistent with these bylaws or with any rule adopted by the Board of Directors.

Section 6 Duty to Report to Board of Directors. Actions taken at a meeting of any committee shall be reported to the Board of Directors at its next meeting following the committee meeting; except that, when the meeting of the Board of Directors is held within two (2) days after the committee meeting, the report shall, if not made at the first meeting, be made to the Board of Directors at its second meeting following the committee meeting.

Section 7 Legal Responsibility Retained by Board of Directors. The designation of any committee and the delegation thereto of authority shall not operate to relieve the Board of Directors, or any member thereof, of any responsibility imposed by law.

ARTICLE IX

COUNCIL OF REPRESENTATIVES

Section 1 Council. A Council of Representatives (CoR or simply 'Council') will assist Board of Directors in making decisions and passing on information to/from Board of Directors and general body. The Council will have representatives from the registered members, including alumni, students, faculty and permanent non-teaching staff. The function of Council shall be as defined by the Board of Directors, but generally the Council shall:

1. Elect Board of Directors by direct participation in voting process
2. Help in exchange of information/views between general body and Board of Directors
3. Assist in selection, planning and execution of alumni projects

Section 2 Qualifications, Number and Election. Candidate for Council of Representatives (CoR or Council) shall be registered member of the Corporation. In addition, he should belong to any one category of members-Alumni, Students, Faculty or Staff.

CoR members shall be elected by registered members by voting process, as defined in this bylaws. The election will be supervised by an Election Officer appointed by the Board of Directors. The decision of Election Officer shall be final and binding for the election outcome. All CoR members shall serve two-year terms. There may be annual by-election as decided by Board of Directors, (e.g. for students representatives or under some situations). CoR members are permitted to hold office multiple terms, and they may hold successive terms.

The CoR members will be selected by their branch / year (e. g. CHE 77, MEC 85) amongst students and alumni. Each voter can cast only one vote. There will be maximum one candidate selected for each branch of a batch. In case of more than one nomination from a branch/year, the decision of Election Officer shall be final and binding.

Section 3 Quorum. A majority of the entire Council shall constitute a quorum and the act of a majority of the members present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the committee.

Section 4 Rules. The Council may adopt rules for its own governance consistent with these bylaws or with any rule adopted by the Board of Directors.

Section 5 Communication with the Board of Directors. A representative of the Board of Directors will be present in the meeting of the Council to answer any questions. Actions taken at a meeting of Council shall be reported to the Board of Directors by this representative by its next meeting following the Council meeting; except that, when the meeting of the Board of Directors is held within two (2) days after the Council meeting, the report shall, if not made at the first meeting, be made to the Board of Directors at its second meeting following the Council meeting.

Section 6 Legal Responsibility Retained by Board of Directors. The functioning of Council and the delegation thereto of authority shall not operate to relieve the Board of Directors, or any member thereof, of any responsibility imposed by law.

ARTICLE X

Recalling members of the CoR and BoD and removal of registered members

Section 1 Summary. In order to function as a true democratic Organization, the Organization will have rules in place to recall Council of Representatives (CoR) or Board of Directors (BoD) members or to remove a registered member. It is expected the action for such members shall be taken under rare circumstances and as per procedure prescribed under the current bylaws.

Section 2 Rules for Recall of BoD members.

1. Recalling a member of the BoD will be within the powers of the CoR. The process that will be followed is described in the following clauses.
2. A minimum of 30 % of the members of the CoR should file a statement / petition recalling a certain member of the BoD. This statement should contain valid reasons for the petition for recall.
3. This recall petition should be posted on the website and should also be served personally (by email or fax or letter) to the concerned BoD.
4. The concerned member of the BoD will be given at least two weeks' notice to defend himself against the charges / points mentioned in the recall petition. During this phase, the concerned member will be allocated blogging space on the website to express himself as to why the recall petition is not justified.
5. At the end of the two week period, the recall petition will be put to vote through an on-line referendum. The referendum will remain open for voting by members for at least one week (seven days). Other provisions as mentioned under clause (6) above will apply to this referendum also.
6. The vote will be decided on the basis of two-thirds majority of those voting. It is up to the petitioners and the concerned BoD member to ensure that sufficient CoR members turn up and vote in their favour. Lack of quorum WILL not be a ground to annul the referendum.
7. Outcome of the referendum will be final and binding on all parties concerned. A BoD member can be petitioned against only ONCE in his / her term.
8. A BoD member who lost his position through a recall process will stand disqualified for election to a BoD position for ONE term immediately following the recall (not counting the term that he / she would have served if the recall had not taken place). He will be free to contest in all subsequent elections to the BoD.
9. Immediately following a recall, the member may however be permitted to contest an election to the CoR from his respective constituency.

Section 3 Rules for Recall of CoR members.

1. Members of the CoR and the BoD may be recalled by the respective electoral colleges (that is, the CoR and the registered alumni respectively) by following the due procedure prescribed here.
2. Recalling of a member of the CoR is done by the respective branch / year constituency

that the member of CoR represents and by whom she / he was elected. (Example, if the CoR member representing the 1983 Mech. group is to be recalled, then the decision rests with the 1983 Mech. alumni and NOT with anyone else or with any other group), herein after referred to as the “constituency”.

3. Alternately, if the constituency is NOT in a position to get such a resolution passed, 30% of the registered alumni in the constituency could notify the BoD about an impending recall and request for an on-line referendum for the recall. Due notice should be given to the secretary / Web Management group to organize an on-line referendum for the recall.
4. The referendum will remain open for voting by members for at least one week (seven days). During these seven days, the voting pattern will not be visible to ANYONE including the administrators. However, audit trail will be enabled to track the time stamping and such other technical data, to ensure that no tampering was involved.
5. Based on the outcome of the on-line referendum for the recall, the member may be deemed to be recalled, if the simple majority of those voting in the referendum favour a recall.
6. It is the sole responsibility of the constituency to ensure adequate turn-out of the voters in order for the referendum to be successful. The BoD or the ITBHUGlobal organization will not take cognizance of any appeal on the grounds that the voter turn-out was inadequate.
7. A CoR member who has been recalled by his / her constituents may contest the next election that would be held to find his / her replacement. There is no bar on this in spite of his / her having been recalled. However, the ITBHUGlobal organization will not be in a position to adjudicate or mediate in any appeal process, should the recalled member choose to contest the outcome of the recall referendum.
8. As long as the due process was followed by the constituency in getting the resolution passed or the referendum conducted, as the case may be, the recall verdict will be final and binding on the member.
9. If the member can prove through proper evidence, that due process was not followed in arriving at the recall verdict, the BoD may choose to set aside the resolution / referendum and allow the constituency to file a new resolution or request for a referendum. However, this setting aside can be done only once. The outcome of the second round of recall will be final and binding. The constituency will take adequate care to ensure that the proper process is followed the second time around.
10. No split will be recognized in the branch / year constituency, as these are logical groupings and a “split” in this group is inconceivable.

Section 4 Rules for Removal of Registered members

1. A registered member can be removed for any serious ground, such as working against organization, forming a split within the Organization, etc.
2. When the improper behaviour or action by a registered member is brought to the notice of Board of Director, letter will be sent by BoD to the registered member asking for explanation.

3. If the registered member fails to respond within 14 days of receiving the email/letter or if he does not explain the situation or allegations clearly and satisfactorily, then a notice for “intention to removal” is sent to him with a copy to CoR. If he fails to respond further within next 14 days, his primary membership can be cancelled by 2/3 of BoD members by voting.. Then he will be served a notice about his removal as a member of our Organization, with a copy of notice to CoR. After 3 days, his primary membership shall be cancelled and his name shall be removed from alumni database and from all associated member groups where there is need for members to be registered.

ARTICLE X

CONTRACTS, CHECKS, DEPOSITS AND LOANS

Section 1 Contracts. The Board of Directors may authorize any officer or officers, agent or agents of the Corporation, in addition to the officers so authorized by these by-laws, to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation, and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.

Section 2 Checks, Drafts, Etc. All checks, drafts or orders for the payment of money, notes or other evidences in indebtedness issued in the name of the Corporation, shall be signed by such officer or officers, agent or agents of the Corporation and in such manner as shall from time to time be determined by resolution of the Board of Directors. In the absence of such determination by the Board of Directors, such instruments shall be signed by the Treasurer or a Deputy Treasurer of the Corporation.

Section 3 Deposits. All funds of the Corporation shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the Corporation in such banks, trust companies or other depositories as the Board of Directors may select.

ARTICLE XII

BOOKS AND RECORDS

Section 1 Books and Records. The Corporation shall keep books and records of account and minutes of the proceedings of its members, Board of Directors and executive committee, if any. The Corporation shall make available for inspection at its registered or principal office records containing the names and addresses of the directors entitled to vote.

Section 2 Form of Records. The books, minutes or records may be in written form or any other form capable of being converted into written form within a reasonable time. The Corporation shall convert into written form without charge any records not in that form, upon the written request of any person entitled to inspect them.

ARTICLE XIII

LIABILITY, INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE

Section 1 No Personal Liability. The directors of the Corporation shall not be personally liable for the debts, liabilities or obligations of the Corporation.

Section 2 Indemnification. The Corporation may indemnify a director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation against reasonable costs, disbursements, counsel fees and liabilities in connection with any proceeding involving such director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation because of that person's present or former capacity as a director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation in the manner, and subject to any conditions, prescribed by section 15A:3-4 of the New Jersey Nonprofit Corporation Act, or corresponding section of any future New Jersey Act, to the extent of the Corporation's relevant insurance coverage. Such person, however, shall not be indemnified where the action or proceeding is based upon or arises out of his own intentional or negligent misconduct in the performance of his Corporation duties.

Section 3 Insurance. The Corporation shall have the power to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation against reasonable costs, disbursements, counsel fees and liabilities asserted by reason of such person's present or former capacity as a director, officer, employee or agent or the Corporation, whether or not the Corporation would have the power to indemnify that person under these by-laws.

ARTICLE XIV

FISCAL YEAR

Section 1 Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Corporation shall begin on the first day of January and end on the last day of December in each year.

ARTICLE XV

DISSOLUTION

Section 1 Dissolution. The Corporation may be dissolved by the Board of Directors by three-fourths of the majority votes. This decision shall also be ratified by $\frac{3}{4}$ of majority votes of CoR members to be effective. In the event of dissolution of the Corporation, its assets will be distributed to qualified 501(c)(3) organizations whose purposes are consistent with the purposes of ITBHU Global Alumni Association , Inc.

ARTICLE XVI

AMENDMENTS

Section 1 Amendments to By-laws. The Board of Directors shall have the power to make, alter and repeal these by-laws with at least two-thirds (2/3) affirmative vote.
